These Men Built
Baraboo, Brick by Brick

Tales of Earlier Days
By Bob Dewel

Do any of these men’s names
mean anything to you? Thomas
Thompson? A.J. Carow? Gorge Holah?
A.J. Capener—well there’s a Baraboo
name anyway! These men were
responsible for constructing most of our
present downtown buildings, sometimes
alone and sometimes in collaboration.
Now they are forgotten.

Much of the present-day
Downtown Baraboo architecture dates
back to the 1880’s and 1890’s. The
buildings rose rapidly in the thriving
community following the disastrous fires
mentioned in earlier articles. As a result,
within a small time period and a limited
number of contractors, Baraboo hosted a
largely  cohesive = downtown in
architectural terms.

The net effect is suggestive of the
drawings of Norman Rockwell and his
New England villages. The style is
different, but the cohesiveness is there in
both cases. As a result, Downtown
Baraboo presents a pleasant and
distinctive series of facades to visitors,
as well as to home-towners. Much of
the square is particularly unique in this
manner.

The Early Builders

All four men were born British,
emigrating early, though not directly, to
Baraboo. The oldest, and the earliest to
arrive, was Holah, in the early 1850’s.
He was the architect for the 1855 brick
courthouse which burned in 19035, as did
the high school he designed and built in
1870.

His 1905 obituary too generously
credits Holah with all but one of the
downtown brick business houses. This
is not far from the truth, for the Baraboo
Intensive Survey, from which some of
this material is taken, credits him with
34 commercial buildings, largely on
Third Avenue, including the 1867
Italianate style Sauk County Bank,
predecessor to the Baraboo National
Bank.

Holah also built an unnamed
school, plus some residences. Exact
locations may be obtained by consulting
the Intensive Survey, this being true of
A.J. Carow, and Thomas Thomson also.
Arriving from Canada, Carow is best
known for construction of the Warren
Opera House, now part of the Corner
Drug Store, and a significant number of
other commercial locations. He moved
to Beloit after 30 years in Baraboo.

Born in London in 1829, George
Capener arrived in little Baraboo Rapids
shortly after 1850. Many of the early
frame churches were his design and
workmanship. He paired together with
Holah at times in construction of
commercial buildings, particularly on
Third Street. The telephone book lists
several Capeners today, presumably
descendants.

Larger Buildings

Larger churches and public
buildings were sometimes designed by
out of town architects and sometimes
bridges also, Both St. Johns Lutheran
(the earlier red brick structure), and
Trinity Episcopal were designed by out
of town firms. The Episcopal Tower
now sports effective night lighting

A Henry Foller is said to have
designed St. Joseph Church, but this may
refer to an earlier frame structure.
Conover and Porter of Madison built the
old YMCA, Third and Ash, as well as
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